IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v. Case No. 93,101 (TFC Case Nos. 973111(18A) CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE, 973200(18A) individually, and 983119(18A) EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondents.

_____/

RESPONDENTS' INITIAL BRIEF

OBJECTION TO REPORT OF REFEREE, OBJECTION TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST RESPONDENTS CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE AND EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC. and REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Respondents CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE Individually and on behalf of EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC. 129 W. Hibiscus Blvd.

Melbourne FL 32901 (407) 729-6399

I. ISSUE

Respondents' Objection to Report of Referee and

Objection to Summary Judgment against Respondent CANDICE L.

MIRAVALLE AND EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC.

The pleadings filed in the above-styled cause and the evidence and oral testimony presented to the referee at

the hearing which occurred on June 1, 1999, do not support the findings of fact or conclusions of law of the referee.

The pleadings filed in the above-styled cause and the evidence and oral testimony presented to the referee at

the hearing which occurred on June 1, 1999, do not support

entry of Summary Judgment against Respondents.

The matters raised by the referee at the hearing on June

1, 1999, do not support the findings of fact or conclusions of law of the referee.

The matters raised by the referee at the hearing on June

1, 1999, do not support entry of Summary Judgment against Respondents.

II. TABLE OF CITATIONS

Citation

Chapter 10 of the 14, 15 Rules Regulating the Florida Bar <u>Florida Accountants Association v. Dandelake</u>, 18, 19, 20, 98 So2nd 323, 70 ALR 425 (Fla. 1957), 21

Page

III. HISTORICAL INFORMATION OF RESPONDENTS

 $Prior \ to \ opening \ the \ business \ known \ as \ EXPRESS \ LEGALSER VICES, \ INC., \ Respondent$

CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE received a Bachelor's Degree in "Allied Legal Services" (paralegal) through the University of Central Florida. Additionally, Respondent CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE had been employed as a paralegal for attorneys in Melbourne, Florida, performing paralegal duties; including research of forms and their contents necessary for the attorneys to adequately represent and prepare pleadings for their clients.

Respondent CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE incorporated andopened the business known as EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC. on October 1, 1987, three months after the Court ruling which modified Chapter 10 of the Rules regulating the Florida Bar; approximately six (6) years before any forms were first approved by the Supreme Court of Florida but which have been modified on two (2) occasions subsequent thereto.

As the result of no forms being available for approximately six (6) years, Respondent CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE:

a. Excepting those areas of which Respondent CANDICE L.MIRAVALLE was knowledgeable of legal form requirements due to her employment by the attorneys, found it necessary to seek information (research) on other subject matters to develop forms which provided the elements/allegations necessary for the proper preparation of pleadings/documents to meet the needs of her customers.

b. Petitioned the Court for approval of forms which shehad developed; but was denied approval without review.

Despite various matters having been brought to theattention of Petitioner in the past (i.e. preparation of

dissolution of marriage pleadings, adoption pleadings, and answer pleadings), one of which included the personal deposition of Respondent CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE, no objection has been found to the handling of those matters by Respondents.

Despite the matter of Respondents' preparation of bankruptcy pleadings being brought before the United States Bankruptcy Court, Middle District of Florida, which also included the personal deposition of Respondent CANDICEL. MIRAVALLE concerning the procedure for obtaining the information and oral communication between the customers of Respondents, no objection was found to Respondents'

continuing preparation of bankruptcy pleadings; in particular, a written agreement was entered by Respondent CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE and the United States Bankruptcy Trustee.

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This matter initiated upon: a. A Complaint from a "then licensed" attorney (butrecently suspended arising out of his arrest on criminal charges for the purchase of cocaine, sale of or delivery of cocaine, battery/domestic violence, two (2) count of aggravated

assault/domestic violence including one involving a pregnant woman, attempted purchase of cocaine and attempted delivery of cocaine) setting forth that Respondents had harmed customers necessitating the attorney to do extensive work to correct the actions of Respondent which harmed the customers. The investigation revealed that the allegations made by the attorney were unsubstantiated and false; specifically, the investigator could find no proof of any actions taken by the attorney. When the "local" committee for the unlicensed practice of law met, it was agreed by the committee that Respondents had not engaged in the unlicensed practice of law.

b. A facsimile sent to Petitioner of the documents

prepared by Respondents for a customer concerning a bankruptcy matter for the removal of a Judgment (in which bankruptcy the customer had initially been represented by an attorney but which attorney failed to obtain an Order removing the Judgment); <u>no</u> complaint alleging the unlicensed practice of law was attached. Petitioner just assumed the facsimile was a complaint. When the "local" committee for the unlicensed practice of law met, the committee felt the matter was too difficult of a concept for the customer to have understood and for which it was decided that Petitioner should proceed against Respondents.

c. Documentation sent by an attorney, for a creditor in

a bankruptcy matter, to Petitioner which Respondents had prepared for their bankruptcy customer. Additionally, oral communications occurred between the attorney and Petitioner

which Petitioner set forth in its pleadings but which were

untrue and never substantiated in Court (in particular, that Respondents advised their customer to not execute a Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure offered by the attorney for the creditor prior to his appearance in Bankruptcy Court when, in fact, the customer had never met or communicated with the attorney until the customer appeared in Court and was explained by the Bankruptcy Judge of the attorney's offer).

Based upon the foregoing, Petitioner commenced theabove-styled cause against Respondents by filing a Petition against the Unlicensed Practice of Law which was subsequently amended by Petitioner's filing of an Amended Petition against the Unlicensed Practice of Law.

Respondents answered Petitioner's Amended Petitiondenying the allegations set forth therein. Additionally, Respondents filed (a) two (2) Motions to Dismiss, (b) an Amended Affirmative Defenses, and (c) an Amended Counterpetition; all of which were denied.

Respondents subsequently amended their pleadings to

raise additional affirmative Defenses; all of which Petitioner denied but which the referee did not specifically address.

The parties subsequently propounded upon each otherInterrogatories for which each party subsequently filed for the Court record the responses to the Interrogatories.

Petitioner filed a Motion for Summary Judgment setting

forth that there is no genuine issue of material fact and there were "undisputed facts which demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that Respondents engaged in the unlicensed practice of law" by:

a. Performing legal research for customers. b. Drafting legal documents. c. Engaging in oral communication with customers toobtain information to prepare legal documents which were not Florida Supreme Court approved forms.

Additionally, Petitioner set forth that Respondent

EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC, through its business name and by the contents of advertisements, held itself out as being able to provide legal services to the public.

In further support of its Motion for Summary Judgment,

Petitioner filed the Affidavit of Mary Ellen Bateman that the forms used by Respondents were not Supreme Court approved forms and the Affidavits of Ricky Sheffield and George B. Turner concerning the advertisements for EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC. with attachments to the Affidavits which consisted of the advertisements themselves.

Respondents filed their objection to the Motion for

Summary Judgment setting forth that:

a. All facts are in dispute. b. Typing of legal documents is allowed by Chapter10 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar and pursuant to Petitioner's Answer to Interrogatories which

Respondents filed in this action.

c. Engaging in oral communications with customers is allowed by Chapter 10 of the Rules regulating the Florida Bar and pursuant to Petitioner's Answer to Interrogatories which Respondents filed in this action.

d. There is no prohibition against the use of forms notapproved by the Florida Supreme Court pursuant to Petitioner's Answer to Interrogatories which Respondents filed in this action.

e. There is no prohibition to oral communications withcustomers pursuant to Petitioner's Answer to Interrogatories which Respondents filed in this action.

f. The use of the name EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC., is used in conjunction with the advertisements and clearly implies that the business is not provided by attorneys.

At the hearing on Petitioner's Motion for SummaryJudgment,

a. Petitioner, in support of its Motion, presented astheir only evidence:

1. Respondents' Answers to Interrogatories which

set forth that (a) Respondent CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE performed research for her customers, (b) Respondents drafted the legal documents, (c) Respondents engaged in oral communication to obtain information and (d) Respondents accepted documents which provided information.

2. The Affidavit of Mary Ellen Bateman that the

forms used by Respondent were not Supreme Court approved forms.

3. The advertisement of Respondent EXPRESS LEGAL

SERVICES, INC.

b. Respondents, in defense of the Motion:
1. Presented Petitioner's Answers to
Interrogatories which set forth that nonlawyers may use forms which have not been approved by the Supreme Court of Florida

and may have oral communications to obtain information for the forms.

2. Asked the referee to consider Chapter 10 of the

Rules Regulating the Florida Bar which allows for oral communication to elicit information to complete forms.

3. Argued that no clarification of the researchperformed by Respondents was requested by Petitioner.

4. Argued that no clarification of the discussionsbetween Respondents and their customers was requested by Petitioner.

5. Argued that no evidence was presented byPetitioner concerning the content of the discussions between Respondents and their customers.

6. Argued that no evidence was presented byPetitioner in support of its contention that the usage of the word "legal", both in Respondents' name and advertisements, misleads

customers. Additionally, Respondents argued that Respondents' name and advertisements clearly indicate that neither Respondent is a lawyer nor providing the services of a lawyer.

c. The Court:

1. Queried about the handling of one specificsituation for discussions between Respondents and their customer in which it was acknowledged by Petitioner in that specific situation that oral discussions between Respondents and their customers would be proper.

2. Acknowledged that people don't go to attorneysand assumed why people would go to somebody other than attorneys for various reasons; (a) they can't afford, (b) they don't trust them (attorneys), (c) they think they (attorneys) have the whole system rigged and they want somebody outside the system. Additionally, the Court, not meaning to be facetious, couldn't understand why anyone would be looking at the ad of Respondents if they didn't need somebody to do some type of legal service though the Court acknowledged that the "stumbling block" was the word "legal".

3. Acknowledged that the situation indicates that Respondents are trying to do everything they can (to comply).

4. Noted that the Florida Bar would not bepreparing forms for approval by the Florida Supreme Court

for use by non-lawyers for Bankruptcy Court matters to which Petitioner acknowledged that it was not for the Florida Bar "to really go there".

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has presented <u>no</u> evidence to the Court to support any of its allegations that:

a. Respondents engaged in the practice of law by: (1) Performing legal research,

(2) Drafting legal documents, (3) Engaging in oral communication to obtain

information, (4) Preparing legal documents which were not Supreme Court approved forms. b. Respondents' usage of the word "legal" in their name and advertisement misleads customers.

VI. ARGUMENT

Petitioner has presented <u>no</u> evidence to the Court to support any of its allegations; specifically,

1. Respondents admit that legal research was performed for customers. However, the legal research performed was not the practice of law due to it having been performed by Respondent CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE while employed by attorneys or having been performed out of necessity so Respondents may properly assist their customers and for which Respondents may not be penalized.

As set forth in the historical information about

Respondents, due to no Supreme Court legal forms being available for usage by non-lawyers, it was necessary for Respondents to seek information (research) for the documents required and content requirements of the documents which Respondents prepare for their customers. Additionally, legal research was performed by Respondents concerning "procedural direction" for the customers of Respondents; i.e. filing fees, number of copies. Petitioner never querried as to the category of legal research performed by Respondent and has only <u>assumed</u> what legal research was performed.

Other than Respondents' admission to performing

research as provided above-herein, Petitioner has presented <u>no</u> evidence or testimony of research or any other category of research which Respondents have performed which would constitute the practice of law.

An <u>assumption</u> is insufficient evidence for the Court to grant Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioner on this matter.

There are insufficient pleadings and no evidence for the Court to grant Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioner on this matter.

2. Respondents admit to preparing legal documents. Pursuant to Petitioner's response to Respondents'Interrogatories, Interrogatory #13, and Chapter 10 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, Respondents may prepare legal documents; including forms which are not Supreme Court approved forms.

Petitioner's response to Interrogatory #13 and Chapter10 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar in themselves clearly <u>oppose</u> Petitioner's allegation that Respondents' preparation of legal documents is the practice of law.

Other than Respondents' admission to the preparation oflegal documents, which Respondents contend is allowable pursuant to the foregoing, the only evidence which Petitioner presented to the Court on this matter was the Affidavit of Mary Ellen Bateman that the documents prepared were not Supreme Court approved forms; it does not address or

have any bearing on the preparation of forms not approved by the Supreme Court. No other evidence or testimony was presented by Petitioner.

There are insufficient pleadings and <u>no</u> evidence for the Court to grant Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioner on this matter.

3. Respondents admit to engaging in oral communication obtain information for the preparation of the legal documents.

Once again, pursuant to Petitioner's response to

Respondent's Interrogatories, Interrogatory #13, and Chapter 10 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, Respondents may

engage in oral communication to obtain information for the preparation of legal documents.

And again, Petitioner's response to Interrogatory #13

and Chapter 10 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar in themselves clearly <u>oppose</u> Petitioner's allegation that Respondents' engagement in oral communication to obtain information for the preparation of legal documents is the practice of law.

Other than Respondents' admission to the engagement inoral communication to obtain information for the preparation of legal documents, which Respondents contend is allowable pursuant to the foregoing, Petitioner has presented no

evidence as to the content of the oral communications engaged in by Respondents with their customers; no deposition, no affidavit.

There are insufficient pleadings and no evidence for the

Court to grant Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioner on this matter.

4. Respondents admit to preparing legal documents which

were not Supreme Court approved forms,

Pursuant to Petitioner's response to Respondents'Interrogatories, Interrogatory #13, Respondents may prepare legal documents which are not Supreme Court approved forms.

Petitioner's response to Interrogatory #13 clearly

opposes Petitioner's allegation that Respondents' preparation of legal documents which are not Supreme Court approved forms is the practice of law.

There are insufficient pleadings and <u>no</u> evidence for the

Court to grant Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioner on this matter.

5. Respondents admit to the usage of the word "legal"in their name and advertisements. Respondents, however, deny

that the usage of the word "legal" misleads the public.

Respondents admit that the advertisement sets forth that

Respondents provide ordinary legal services to the public. However, the word "services" has a broad definition; the "preparation of forms", whether approved by the Supreme Court or not, is a service; the "providing of procedural direction" is a service.

Respondents further state that the name EXPRESS LEGAL

SERVICES, INC., is used in conjunction with the

advertisements of EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC. which clearly imply that the services provided are not provided by attorneys. There are over forty (40) words in the advertisement of EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC. from which Petitioner has extracted two (2) words out of context to formulate their belief of an alleged misinterpretation by the customers of the business.

Other than Respondents' admission to the usage of the

word "legal" in their name and advertisements and the presenting into evidence of Respondents' advertisement, by the advertisement itself, the Affidavit of George Turner and the Affidavit of the representative of the publication in which the advertisement is displayed, Petitioner has presented <u>no</u> evidence as to any customer of Respondents' claiming a misinterpretation or being mislead by the advertisement or name of EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC.; no deposition, no affidavit.

There are insufficient pleadings and <u>no</u> evidence for the

Court to grant Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioner on this matter.

This Court must look to a past decision of the Supreme

Court of the State of Florida; prior to the recent decisions of the Court concerning the unlicensed practice of law by businesses owned and operated by non-lawyers. In particular, <u>Florida Accountants Association v. Dandelake</u>, 98 So2nd 323, 70 ALR 425 (Fla. 1957), where

the State Board of Accountancy attempted to enjoin accountants, who were not certified public accounts or public accountants holding a certificate of authority from the State Board of Accountancy, from holding themselves out as accountants and from using the word "accountant" in their literature, representations to the public, signs, and stationery. The Court found that the accountants had the constitutional right to do ordinary accounting work without being relegated to the position of employees in offices of certified public accounts and public accountants and could call themselves "accountants" rather than "bookkeepers". Further, the Court found that the

prohibition of the foregoing conflicts with the Constitution as it abridged the right of private property and infringed upon the right of contract in matters of private concern bearing no relation to the general or public welfare and tended to create a monopoly in the profession of accounting for the benefit of certified accountants and denied uncertified accountants equal protection of the laws.

In Florida Accountants Association v. Dandelake, the

Court found merit in the contention of the accountants that they wanted to do ordinary accounting work without, as they put it, being relegated to the position of 'enslaved laborers' in the offices of certified public accountants and contended that they had a constitutional right to do so. Respondents, in the above-styled cause, make a similar contention; that they want to provide ordinary legal services (document preparation and procedural direction as

provided in Chapter 10 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar) to that portion of the public that cannot afford or refuse to employ the services of an attorney and that Respondent want to provide the services without being relegated to the position of 'enslaved laborers' in the offices of lawyers. Additionally, Respondents contend that the prohibition of the foregoing conflicts with the Constitution as it abridged the right of private property and infringed upon the right of contract in matters of private concern bearing no relation to the general or public welfare and tended to create a monopoly in the profession of legal services for the benefit of lawyers and denied uncertified paralegals equal protection of the law.

It is common knowledge that, due to the cost of

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