IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Petitioner,

v.

CANDICE L. MIRAVALLE, individually, and EXPRESS LEGAL SERVICES, INC., a Florida Corporation, Respondents. Case No. 93,101 [TFB Case Nos. 973111(18A) 973200(18A) 983119(18A)]

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

MARY ELLEN BATEMAN Director of the UPL Department The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 324698

AND

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondents challenge the Report of the Referee. Although Respondents argue that Petitioner presented no evidence to support its position, the record shows otherwise. In their Initial Brief, Respondents continue to admit essential material facts of the case -that they prepared legal documents with information obtained orally from customers. Respondents maintain that Rule 10-2.1, Rules Governing the Investigation and Prosecution of the Unlicensed Practice of Law, allows this. Respondents simply misunderstand that Rule 10-2.1 applies only to forms approved by this Court. The documents in question were not approved forms.

Respondents do not dispute the content of their ads. With regard to the ads, the referee simply found that the ads in question were run by Respondents during relevant time periods. The referee's conclusions of law, that the ads hold Respondents out as providing legal services, are consistent with this Court's previous rulings.

Respondents' advertisements, as well as the manner in which they prepare legal documents, constitute the unlicensed practice of law. There were no genuine issues of material fact before the referee. This Court should ratify the Summary Judgment, adopt the Report of the Referee, and enter a permanent injunction against Respondents.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER.

A referee's findings of fact in an unlicensed practice of law case are presumed to be correct, and they should be upheld unless the challenging party can conclusively show that the facts are not supported by the evidence or are clearly erroneous. *The Florida Bar v. Catarcio*, 709 So. 96 (Fla. 1998)

In support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, Petitioner filed three affidavits. The Affidavit of Mary Ellen Bateman (A16) established that the documents in question were not forms approved by the Supreme Court of Florida. The affidavit of Ricky Sheffield (A54) established the authenticity of the of advertisements in question, as well as the dates during which the advertisements were run. The affidavit of George Turner (A60) established the authenticity of the advertisements, as well as stated that the advertisements had run as recently as March, 1999. Petitioner also filed Respondents' Interrogatory Answers in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment (A68)

Respondents filed the affidavits of Joseph Delpino (A64), Peter Berkowitz (A66) and Denise Beasley (A67) in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. The Delpino affidavit disputes an allegation of the Amended Petition, that Respondent Miravalle gave specific legal direction to Mr. Delpino with regard to a deed in lieu of foreclosure. Respondents are correct that an issue of fact exists as to that allegation, but that allegation in no way formed the basis of the Summary Judgment. The Berkowitz affidavit simply states that he did not believe Respondents were attorneys. That is not an issue in this case. The Beasley affidavit fails to address the substance of Petitioner's position with regard to the ads, that a person reading the ads could believe that Respondents offer personal legal services to the public. Thus, none of the affidavits filed by Respondents created a genuine issue of material fact with regard to those issues upon which the Summary Judgment was based.

Respondents also filed Petitioner's interrogatory answers (A79). These interrogatory answers, in particular the answers to interrogatories 10 through 13, clearly establish the manner in which nonlawyers are allowed to engage in document typing and form completion. (A86 - A89) When read in conjunction with the record evidence and the admissions in Respondents' Initial Brief, these interrogatory answers support the position of Petitioner, that Respondents engaged in the unlicensed practice of law by engaging in oral communication to obtain information to prepare documents which were

not Florida Supreme Court approved forms.¹

Based on the record evidence, the uncontroverted facts are as follows.

1. None of the documents attached as exhibits to the Petition are Florida Supreme Court approved forms. (Affidavit of Mary Ellen Bateman², A16)

2. The Respondents custom-prepared the documents in question. The Respondents did not simply type information into blanks on forms. (Respondents' Answers to Interrogatories, Interrogatory 4, A73, A76 - A77) In their Initial Brief, Respondents continue to make reference to preparation of documents, but do not make mention of completion of forms. (IB14 - IB16)

3. Respondent Miravalle engaged in oral communication with regard to the subject matter of the documents in question. (Respondents Answers to Interrogatories, Interrogatory 4, A73, A76 - A77) In their Initial Brief, Respondents admit engaging in

¹Respondents make repeated reference to Petitioner's Interrogatory Answer 13 (A88 - A89) supporting their contentions and opposing Petitioner's argument. (IB14 - IB16) This interrogatory answer clearly sets forth that oral communication is allowed only when using Supreme Court approved forms. Since the documents in question are not approved forms, Respondent Miravalle's admitted oral communication is the unlicensed practice of law. Respondents' assertions in their Initial Brief, that this interrogatory answer supports their position, rises to the level of a misrepresentation to this Court.

²The exhibits to the Affidavit of Mary Ellen Bateman, A18 - A53), are identical to the exhibits to the Amended Petition Against the Unlicensed Practice of Law.

oral communication to obtain information to prepare the documents in question. (IB14 - IB16)

4. The Respondents derived information for the documents in question from other documents supplied by customers. (Respondents' Answers to Interrogatories, Interrogatory 4, A73, A76 - A77)

5. The Respondents' advertisement offers legal services, both through the business name and text of the ads. (Affidavit of Ricky Sheffield, A54) The language of the advertisement is not disputed.

Summary Judgment must be decided on the record evidence. The record evidence must show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. Rule 1.510, Fla.R.Civ.P. In an unlicensed practice of law prosecution under Chapter 10, Rules Governing the Investigation and Prosecution of the Unlicensed Practice of Law, Petitioner need not show the non-existence of genuine issues of fact as to every allegation. If there are uncontroverted facts which constitute the unlicensed practice of law, an injunction is proper, even if issues of fact remain as to other allegations in the petition. *See The Florida Bar v. Smania*, 701 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 1997) (injunction against UPL issued after entry of partial summary judgment as to a portion of the case). The affidavits and interrogatory answers filed by Respondents simply did not create issues as to the facts found by the referee.

Based on the foregoing, there were no genuine issues of material fact before the referee. The referee's findings of fact in the Summary Judgment and Report of the Referee are supported by competent substantial evidence.³

³ In their Statement of Case and of the Facts, Respondents make statements which hover somewhere between complete ignorance of the unlicensed practice of law investigative process and outright fabrication. In particular, in direct contradiction to Respondents' statements, the local UPL committee found that Respondents had engaged in egregious UPL activity. Although Petitioner and Respondents obviously disagree as to these assertions by Respondents, these assertions are not supported by the record evidence, and they are irrelevant to the issues in this case and those facts found by the referee. Thus, despite Respondents' protestations to the contrary, there were no *genuine* issues of *material* fact before the referee.

ISSUE II THE REFEREE'S CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE SUPPORTED BY THE UPL DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA.

Rules and case law distinguish between the manner in which a nonlawyer may complete forms: a) which are Florida Supreme Court approved forms, versus b) forms and documents which have been created by an entity through some other process, whether that entity is a commercial legal form company, software company, attorney, or nonlawyer legal technician such as Respondents.

Throughout this case, including the Initial Brief, Respondents have blurred the distinction between those forms which this court has approved, and those legal documents (including forms) which have been created by another person or entity. The issue involves the difference between form typing, form completion, and document preparation.

Sale and typing of legal forms is specifically permitted by the decisions of this court in *The Florida Bar v. Furman*, 376 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 1979) and *The Florida Bar v. Brumbaugh*, 355 So. 2d 1186 (Fla.1978) . Those decisions, however, prohibit personal assistance in completing the forms. The customer must physically write the information into a blank on a sample form, or the typist may use a written questionnaire to elicit the factual information, which must be copied into the blanks on the form

(verbatim, without modification) by the typist. *Brumbaugh*, 355 So. 2d at 1194. Any type of assistance in determining what to insert in the forms is prohibited. In anticipation of the Florida Supreme Court approving forms, Rule 10-2.1 (then Rule 10-1.1) was amended to include a "safe harbor" for limited oral communications. *See The Florida Bar re: Amendment to Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (Chapter 10)*, 510 So. 2d 596 (Fla. 1987). Under that rule, when using Florida Supreme Court approved forms, nonlawyers may engage in limited oral communications to obtain the facts needed to complete the forms. In that limited situation, the customer does not have to physically write the factual information to be copied by the typist.

When using non-Florida Supreme Court approved forms, the safe harbor does not apply. Nonlawyers who wish to offer to the public non-Florida Supreme Court approved forms cannot engage in personal service with regard to those forms. They are allowed only to act as a sort of office supply store plus typist. Once the customer has selected a form offered by the nonlawyer, the only role for the nonlawyer is to copy written information provided by the customer into blanks on the form. Oral communication to obtain facts to complete non-Florida Supreme Court approved forms is the unlicensed practice of law. *The Florida Bar v. Davide*, 702 So. 2d 184 (Fla.1997)

If the customer tenders documents as a source of information or as a means of transmitting the information, then that customer is relying on the typist to select information from the documents and insert it properly. It is improper for the legal technician to assume this responsibility, thereby inducing the customer to rely on the legal technician's expertise. *The Florida Bar v. Brower*, 402 So. 2d 1171 (Fla.1981)

When discretion shifts from the customer to the typist, form completion has become document preparation, even if the document is based on a form. Legal document preparation has long been and continues to be the practice of law. *The Florida Bar v. Schramek*, 616 So. 2d 979 (Fla. 1993)

In the case at bar, in each of the three transactions in question, customers met with Respondents and tendered papers from which Respondents took the information to prepare the documents in question. (Respondents' Answers to Interrogatories, Interrogatory 4, A73, A76 - A77) This practice creates an incurable situation in which customers rely on Respondents' expertise. As noted previously, in their Initial Brief, the Respondents continue to refer to their work as preparation of documents, and not as completion of forms. (IB14 - IB16)

In *The Florida Bar v. American Senior Citizens Alliance*, 689 So. 255 (Fla. 1997), the referee invited this court to clarify the proper role of nonlawyers in living trust preparation. At that time, this Court reaffirmed *Brumbaugh* as establishing the limitations on secretarial services engaged in the sale and completion of legal forms. The bottom line is that, twenty years after the *Brumbaugh* decision, nonlawyers still may only

type information provided in writing (or orally if using a Supreme Court approved form) by customers into blanks on forms. Everything else remains the unlicensed practice of law.⁴

If a nonlawyer modifies a Florida Supreme Court approved form, it is the unlicensed practice of law. *Schramek*, 616 So. 2d 979, 982. If a nonlawyer engages in oral communication to obtain information to type a non-Florida Supreme Court approved form, it is the unlicensed practice of law. *The Florida Bar v. Catarcio*, 709 So. 96 (Fla. 1998); *Davide*, 702 So. 2d 184 (Fla.1997). If a nonlawyer creates a document for a particular client's need, it is no longer a form, and it is the unlicensed practice of law. *Schramek*, 616 So. 2d 979; *In re Joint Petition of The Florida Bar and Raymond James and Associates*, 215 So. 2d 613 (Fla.1968). And if a nonlawyer offers legal services through advertisement, it is the unlicensed practice of law. *See Catarcio, Davide, and Raymond James*.

⁴Petitioner recognizes the advancement of technology and the reality that most "forms" are now completed through the use of computers. Petitioner urges this court to retain *Brumbaugh* as defining the limits of nonlawyer document typing services and to continue to prohibit nonlawyer legal document preparation, lest the unwitting customer mistake a typists' computer proficiency for legal knowledge. Document typists may use computers for non-approved forms and stay within the *Brumbaugh* parameters by: 1) maintaining banks of pre-printed computer-generated forms; 2) requiring customers to choose the forms and to complete or modify the forms in writing, without guidance from the typist.

Respondents completely disregard the opinions of this Court relating to unlicensed practice of law, but instead choose to rely on the opinion of the court in *Florida Accountants Associations v. Dandelake*, 98 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1957). In *Dandelake*, this Court found that non-CPAs could properly refer to themselves as "accountants." In the UPL context, this Court has enjoined persons from holding out in a manner which suggests that legal services are provided, even if the respondent was not specifically holding out as an attorney. *Davide*, 702 So. 2d 184 (Fla.1997). Furthermore, this Court has addressed the constitutional issues raised by Respondents on several occasions. *See Smania*, 701 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 1997). Thus, the *Dandelake* decision is not persuasive in light of the multitude of relatively recent UPL decisions.

ISSUE III AN INJUNCTION SHOULD ISSUE AGAINST RESPONDENTS.

This is a proceeding for injunctive relief. The relief sought by Petitioner is to enjoin activity in which, by law, Respondents may not engage legally. An injunction deprives Respondents of nothing to which they have a right. *See State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Sperry*, 140 So. 2d 587, 596 (Fla.1962). The Respondents have known of Petitioner's position with regard to their advertisements, at least since the Amended Petition was filed in November, 1998. Yet Respondents continued to run the same advertisements through the date when Petitioner filed its Motion for Summary Judgment in March, 1999. Respondents have made it abundantly clear that they will not modify their activity short of an injunction being issued.

CONCLUSION

The case law is clear as to the limitations imposed on nonlawyer legal technicians. The Respondents engage in the unlicensed practice of law through their advertisements, including their business name, as well as by providing personal service to customers. Although minor details of the transactions in question may be disputed, there are more than enough undisputed material facts to support an injunction in this case.

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to ratify and affirm the Summary Judgment, adopt the Report of the Referee, and enter a permanent injunction against Respondents as set forth in the Summary Judgment and Report of Referee, awarding costs to Petitioner as specified therein.